RECEIVED

DEC 27 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Aiken County

Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

HAROLD BENNON CARTWRIGHT, III,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000005

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court admitting evidence petitioner attempted to commit suicide while incarcerated on the charges in this case since this evidence was irrelevant, and even if relevant its probative value was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court admitting photographs of petitioner's prison cell to corroborate the fact he attempted to commit suicide since this evidence was similarly not relevant, and unduly prejudicial if relevant?

3.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court qualifying Dr. Alicia Benedetto as an expert in "child sexual abuse dynamics" where she frankly acknowledged her job was to conduct interviews and not conduct research or studies and the judge thus abused his discretion by qualifying her as an expert to render opinion testimony under Rule 702, SCRE in this case?

4.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court qualifying Benedetto as an expert allowing her to bolster the testimony of the alleged victims, where the jury would draw the impermissible inference that the alleged victims were conducting themselves consistently with other victims of child sexual abuse?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Aiken County Grand Jury for eight counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, sixteen counts of a lewd act with a minor, two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, one count of criminal sexual conduct first degree, and one count of criminal sexual conduct in the third degree. R. p. 370 - 425.

His case came on for trial on April 15, 2013 before the Honorable Doyet A. Earley, III, and a jury. Michael Routzong and Dave Hayes represented petitioner. Kevin Molony was the assistant solicitor. R. p. 1

On April 18, 2013 the jury found petitioner guilty on each count presented to the jury. R. p. 356, l. 14 – 363, l. 22. Judge Early sentenced petitioner to concurrent sentences of thirty years imprisonment, twenty years imprisonment, and fifteen years imprisonment. However, the judge imposed a ten-year consecutive sentence for criminal sexual conduct in the third degree. Petitioner's sentence was therefore forty years imprisonment. R. p. 368, l. 4 – 369, l. 8.

The Court of Appeals affirmed in a summary opinion. State v. Harold Bennon Cartwright, III, 2015-UP-466 (filed September, 2015-UP-466 (filed September 30, 2015). App. 1-3. Petitioner sought rehearing. App. 4-9. Rehearing was denied on December 4, 2015. App. 10-11.

Petitioner sought certiorari, and the state filed a return. This Court granted certiorari in its order dated November 9, 2016. This brief of petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

An Introduction

Feelings of despair and hopelessness are among the many reasons people commit suicide. Respectfully, to simply assume a person is attempting suicide because they have been accused of committing a crime, and that are guilty of that crime, is as shallow as it is cruel and morally offensive.

All five members of this Court voted to grant certiorari on this identical issue in State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 708 S.E.2d 227 (Ct. App. 2011) on October 17, 2012. After briefs were submitted, Petitioner Orozco chose to dismiss his appeal, and this Court dismissed the appeal in its order dated September 5, 2013. This case now provides an excellent procedural vehicle to resolve this important legal and moral issue.

The qualification of Dr. Alicia Benedetto as an expert in “Child abuse dynamics,” where she was a forensic interviewer, and not a researcher or academic, and her “general” opinion testimony which mirrored the facts of this case also makes this case an very good procedural vehicle for this Court to determine whether State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct.App. 1999), and State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) should now be overruled since they are inconsistent with the modern cases of State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737, S.E.2d 490 (2013); State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 446-47, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

Trial facts

Prior to trial defense counsel moved to exclude evidence that petitioner attempted to commit suicide while in the Aiken County Detention Center awaiting trial. The assistant solicitor noted that at the prior trial, which apparently ended in a mistrial, that the state had introduced evidence of

petitioner's suicide attempt and photographs to corroborate it. R. p. 5, ll. 4-18. The solicitor argued this evidence was admissible to show "a guilty conscience." He analogized the suicide evidence to evidence of flight. R. p. 5, ll. 11-18.

Defense counsel noted that petitioner had turned himself in to law enforcement. This showed he was willing to "face these charges." Further, the state had to establish a nexus between the suicide attempt and the charges against him. In addition, even if this evidence was relevant its unduly prejudicial effect outweighed its probative value under Rule 403, SCRE. R. p. 5, l. 20 – 7, l. 23. Finally, this evidence diluted the presumption of innocence, and it could be construed as evidence of bad character. R. p. 6, l. 19 – 7, l. 23.

The judge ruled that, in all likelihood, he would admit this suicide evidence. However, he stated that he understood defense counsel's argument about establishing the nexus, and his additional Rule 403, SCRE argument. R. p. 7, l. 24 – 9, l. 3.

"Expert" testimony

Defense counsel also moved to exclude the testimony of witness Dr. Alicia Benedetto. The solicitor said this witness had testified before Judge Early previously. The judge responded: "I know that, ma'am, but I do so many of these I really and truly cannot remember her." The solicitor maintained: "She will be qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse dynamics and will testify as to the behavioral issues of children that have been abused." The solicitor added that Dr. Benedetto could testify that children who are sexually abused "act out," and she could testify "how factors in the home can affect children that have been sexually abused and things of that nature." R. p. 14, l. 16 – 15, l. 25.

Defense counsel argued this testimony was not admissible under Rule 702, SCRE because it would not assist the jury. Defense counsel also argued that *the only issue is whether the alleged*

victims were testifying truthfully, and that matters of credibility are “strictly within the purview of the jury.” R. p. 16, l. 1 – 18, l. 13. (emphasis added).

The judge said that testimony dealing with “behavioral characteristics were admissible so as long as it did not invade the province of the jury regarding credibility.” Defense counsel and the judge then discussed State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 473, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct.App. 1999), and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). R. p. 16, l. 1 – 18, l. 13. Defense counsel noted that the appellate courts in this state were going in the direction of excluding this type of evidence. R. p. 17, ll. 23-25. Defense counsel further noted that State v. Kromah was the Court’s latest holding on the subject, and it supported the defense position that the “expert testimony” in this case should be excluded. The judge observed that the witness had not talked with the minor witnesses, and he offered that testimony about “general behavioral responses” was admissible. R. p. 16, l. 1 – 21, l. 16.

As will be seen infra, petitioner testified and denied the sexual abuse. He claimed the accusations stemmed from resentment of him for having the boyfriend of his fourteen-year-old daughter prosecuted for having sex with her. Petitioner had also contacted law enforcement about his concerns that her photographs were being posted on the internet along with her friends. In addition, he suspected a sexual relationship between his son Hoss and his stepdaughter, and he had found marijuana in his room. Concerning the evidence of petitioner’s suicide attempt, which was allowed into evidence over defense objection, petitioner attempted to explain that he felt hopeless “at that time” because he was not able make bond, and because some members of his family had had turned on him.

As will also be seen infra, there was also evidence in this case of recantations, and minors “acting out.” Witness Benedetto would then give her “expert testimony” that recantations were not

uncommon and they did not mean that the children were not sexually abused. Further, Benedetto opined minors “acting out” was also symptomatic of sexual abuse.

Daughter testifies

Daughter was the biological daughter of petitioner and Melinda Lively. She was twenty-eight-years-old at the time of the trial. R. p. 31, l. 9 – 32, l. 6. Hoss Cartwright and Jamie Cartwright were her natural siblings. Her stepsiblings were Stepdaughter 2 and Stepdaughter 1. R. p. 32, ll. 7–12.

Daughter claimed when she was four years old (i.e. 24 years previously) petitioner had her perform oral sex on him. Autry said she told her mother about this incident but her mother did not believe her. She also maintained petitioner threatened to kill her, her mother, and take his own life if she reported the incident. R. p. 32, l. 18 – 35, l. 4.

Daughter maintained the abuse continued from the time she was six-years-old until she was ten- years-old when her mother left petitioner and moved them to Georgia. R. p. 35, l. 18 – 39, l. 23. Daughter said after the oral sex petitioner would buy her things, and give her money. R. p. 39, ll. 2-5.

Daughter’s future husband goes to jail for CSC

On cross-examination, Daughter acknowledged she never said anything about the alleged sexual abuse from 1995 until 2011. She admitted she married Kevin Autry and that Autry had served three years in prison for criminal sexual conduct for his conduct involving her. She acknowledged her husband had to register as a sex offender because of that conviction. She refused to admit that petitioner was the person who successfully pushed for law enforcement to prosecute Autry for his improper sexual relationship with her. She did acknowledge after her parents were divorced that petitioner still had visitation privileges with her. R. p. 47, l. 3 – 50, l.10.

The ex-wife

Petitioner's ex-wife, Melinda Lively, then testified that Daughter was her oldest daughter. Jamie Cartwright and Hoss Cartwright were her other children. R. p. 53, l. – 54, l. 6. Lively testified that Daughter claimed she was sexually abused when she was four or five years old. Lively now maintained that she did not contact law enforcement because petitioner threatened at gunpoint to kill them if they told anybody. R. p. 54, l. 7 – 55, l. 3.

Lively admitted in her complaint for divorce in 1997 that she did not allege sexual abuse had taken place, and she agreed that petitioner was entitled to visitation with the supposedly sexually abused children. She said she did not allege anything, and she did not fight visitation because she did not have “any evidence” against petitioner. R. p. 55, l. 9 – 57, l. 6. Lively admitted she remembered petitioner alleging that Lively allowed her oldest daughter, Daughter, who was only fourteen-years-old, to engage in sexual relationship with a twenty-three year-old man. R. p. 59, l. 8 – 60, l. 14.

Stepdaughter 1 testifies

Stepdaughter 1 was petitioner's stepdaughter. She was twenty-one years old at the time of trial. R. p. 63, l. 2 – 65, l. 10. Stepdaughter 1 said she was seven years younger than Daughter and three years older than Stepdaughter 2. R. p. 64, ll. 4-12.

Stepdaughter 1 maintained that when she was in the third grade petitioner made her perform oral sex. R. p. 65, l. 17 – 67, l. 1. Stepdaughter 1 said this happened “a few times a month,” and that petitioner would buy her gifts afterwards. R. p. 67, ll. 1-23. Stepdaughter 1 acknowledged petitioner was arrested as a result of her allegations. However, Stepdaughter 1 recanted her allegations when she was about ten years old, and she told the solicitor the sexual abuse complained

of never actually happened. She said that petitioner moved back into the home shortly after she recanted. R. p. 68, l. 2 – 70, l. 24.

Stepdaughter 1 claimed after petitioner returned to the household that he would “hump” her leg about “three to seven times a week.” He continued to buy her gifts, and take her shopping. Stepdaughter 1 alleged that petitioner threatened to kill the entire family, and then himself if she told. R. p. 70, l. 12 – 73, l. 13. Stepdaughter 1 testified the oral sex ceased from the time she was nine years old until she was fifteen. At fifteen, Stepdaughter 1 claimed she agreed to have sexual intercourse with petitioner under duress. R. p. 73, l. 11 – 80, l. 19.

On cross-examination Stepdaughter 1 admitted she became involved in drugs with Timothy Bowman. She acknowledged that she also became very rebellious. R. p. 93, l. 1. – 94, l. 13.

Recantation

Michelle Prince was a DSS employee who investigated Stepdaughter 1’s allegations. Prince acknowledged she was aware Stepdaughter 1 had recanted. R. p. 96, l. 25 – 100, l. 12.

Stepdaughter 2, the internet, and Hoss

Stepdaughter 2 was petitioner’s other stepdaughter. Stepdaughter 2 was eighteen-years-old at the time of petitioner’s trial. She testified she had a good relationship with petitioner when she was younger but she maintained that changed when she was about thirteen-years-old. She said petitioner then began “humping” her on the leg, and that she despised him. R. p. 101, l. 4 – 103, l. 8. Stepdaughter 2 said petitioner would buy her items after the sexual abuse. She also said petitioner would become angry and threaten to kill the entire family. R. p. 104, l. 15 – 105, l. 16.

Stepdaughter 2 said she later was homeschooled in a shed by petitioner, and at some point, they began having sexual intercourse. Stepdaughter 2 said she began taking birth control pills, and she maintained that was petitioner’s idea. R. p. 107, l. 10 – 109, l. 14.

Stepdaughter 2 admitted that petitioner became very upset because there were photographs of her on the internet. Stepdaughter 2 said she did not have any reason to be embarrassed about the photographs because petitioner was mistaken in thinking they were photographs of her. R. p. 129, l. 5 – 131, l. 6. Petitioner would later strongly dispute the assertion of mistaken identification. Stepdaughter 2 also denied a romantic relationship with petitioner's son, Hoss, as petitioner suspected. R. p. 131, ll. 3-12.

Buffy Brown

The testimony of Buffy Brown was read to the jury since a medical condition after the first trial prevented her from testifying live. R. p. 139, l. 21 – 141, l. 15. Buffy married petitioner in December of 1999 and their divorce was just finalized prior to her testimony in 2013. Buffy testified that Stepdaughter 1 had alleged petitioner sexually abused her. Buffy admitted that Stepdaughter 1 recanted her allegations, and Buffy now maintained that she “probably did put some pressure on Stepdaughter 1 [to recant] because he [petitioner] had convinced me he had done nothing wrong.” R. p. 142, l. 4 – 143, l. 25.

More on recantations

Petitioner moved back in after Stepdaughter 1's recantation. R. p. 144, ll. 1-12. Buffy said that petitioner's stepdaughters, Stepdaughter 1 and Stepdaughter 2, always referred to him as “Daddy.” She did not believe they were being molested. She also acknowledged that Stepdaughter 1 had “some problems” such as sneaking out of the house. However, she was not positive that Stepdaughter 1 also had begun drinking at a young age. R. p. 151, l. 22 – 155, l. 1.

Stepdaughter 2 denied she tried to protect petitioner, and she said she simply did not believe anything of a sexual nature had been going on with the minors. R. p. 155, ll. 2-18. Stepdaughter 2 maintained now that she may have been “naïve.” R. p. 155, ll. 19-22.

Hoss Cartwright

Eighteen-year-old Hoss Cartwright testified that petitioner made vulgar comments to his stepsister, Stepdaughter 2, while they were growing up together. R. p. 169, ll. 2-19. Hoss also said he found petitioner's inspections of Stepdaughter 2's clothes before school "odd." R. p. 169, ll. 8-17.

Hoss denied petitioner caught him smoking marijuana. Hoss essentially admitted he was smoking marijuana but he maintained that petitioner never caught him. R. p. 175, ll. 7-20. Hoss confirmed that petitioner thought he, Hoss, was having sex with his stepsister. R. p. 175, ll. 16-20.

Benedetto testimony

As seen, petitioner objected to the testimony of Dr. Alicia Benedetto prior to trial. R. p. 203, ll. 5-17. Benedetto testified she worked with the Assessment and Resource Center (ARC). Benedetto said, "most of what the ARC does is forensic interviews when there are allegations of abuse." R. p. 204, ll. 17-20.

Benedetto had a Ph.D. from St. Johns University in Psychology. R. p. 205, ll. 4-7. She had conducted a five-day training on Finding Words for prosecution officials. R. p. 206, ll. 1-21. Benedetto maintained her experience was not based "in books" but on the fact, "*I interview children every day. That's basically what, what I do. So, at the ARC, I conduct forensic interviews on a daily basis. I've done that for the past 12 years.*" R. p. 207, l. 20 – 208, l. 6. (emphasis added). Benedetto said she had been qualified before as an expert in "child sex abuse dynamics." R. p. 208, ll. 15 – 209, l. 3.

On cross-examination defense counsel inquired about exactly what "child abuse dynamics" involved. Benedetto said it "refers to how children experience abuse, and that's oftentimes what, what I'm qualified in." R. p. 209, ll. 3-17. When asked how many studies she had been involved in

regarding child abuse dynamic, Benedetto answered that she *conducted interviews and not studies*. She was not a researcher on the subject. R. p. 210, ll. 16-22.

Defense counsel Hayes then objected to Benedetto being qualified as an expert witness, and allowing her to give expert testimony. He noted that she testified and admitted her background was doing forensic interviews, and she was not involved in studies and research. The state had not shown that her testimony was objectively reliable. R. p. 211, ll. 1-12.

The judge denied the motion to exclude her testimony, and he ruled that Benedetto was qualified to give her opinion testimony regarding “child abuse dynamics.” R. p. 211, l. 13 – 212, l. 12. The judge said he would later give an instruction on expert opinion testimony to the jury. R. p. 212, ll. 7-13.

What the jurors are told

Benedetto maintained she did not know anything about the facts of this prosecution. She said that “Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome” involved a pattern of behavior “that a child may engage in that would otherwise seem to not make sense to us.” R. p. 213, ll. 7-21. Benedetto said because a child responded differently than an adult to sexual abuse did not mean that the child was not telling the truth. R. p. 214, ll. 4-7.

Benedetto told the jurors that victims of child sexual abuse were told not to tell about the abuse. She said it was not unusual for an abuser to buy gifts for the abused children. R. p. 214, l. 10 – 215, l. 14. In addition, she said the children often thought they may be harmed if they did not keep the abuse a secret. R. p. 217, l. 5 – 220, l. 4.

Benedetto was then specifically asked about recantations. Benedetto answered that a child recanting or taking back their allegation of abuse did not mean that the abuse did not happen. She claimed, “we’re open to the possibility that it’s a true recantation, but we also know that *many times*

a child recants because of what happens after they tell, and so we want to be sure not to miss those cases.” R. p. 223, l. 21 – 224, l. 11. (emphasis added). Benedetto maintained that sometimes children recanted because they feared having to change schools or other consequences based on their allegations. R. p. 224, ll. 12-22.

Benedetto also told the jurors that sexual abuse can cause minors to begin drinking or using drugs which have a negative influence on their health. R. p. 225, ll. 9-13. Benedetto added that minors “acting out” was also not unusual when they were being sexually abused. R. p. 225, l. 14 – 226, l. 17. Benedetto also maintained that if a child does **not** get upset or act out or show emotion that did not mean that they were not sexually abused. R. p. 226, ll. 18-21.

Suicide Attempt - proffer

The state proffered the testimony of Aiken County Detention Guard James Hettich. Hettich testified on April 13, 2011 he observed petitioner hanging in his jail cell with a sheet tied from his bunk. R. p. 249, l. 5 – 251, l. 2. Hettich said that the sheet was tied tight, and that petitioner was unresponsive while hanging from the neck. “His touch was cold and clammy. He was unresponsive. He wasn’t speaking. He was breathing however.” R. p. 251, ll. 1-21.

Defense counsel told the judge that he did not have any additional arguments about why this suicide evidence should be excluded. The judge then cited the Court of Appeals opinion in State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 708 S.E.2d 227 (Ct.App. 2011) as support for the suicide evidence being admitted.¹ The judge ruled the evidence was admissible. R. p. 253, l. 5 – 254, l. 1.

¹ As seen above, certiorari was granted by this Court on October 17, 2012. This Court can take judicial notice of the fact that petitioner Orozco voluntarily dismissed his appeal after certiorari was granted by this Court, all five Justices, on the issue of whether this Court erred by holding evidence of his suicide attempt was admissible.

Jury in to hear suicide evidence

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