**RECEIVED**

NOV 12 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Lancaster County  
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**JOHN MARION GHENT, JR.,**

**Appellant**

**Appellate Case No. 2016-000643.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM  
Assistant Attorney General**

**P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

**RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court charged the jury that evidence of a suicide attempt is probative of consciousness of guilt in conformity with *State v. Orozco, infra*, and properly did so, given that Appellant's own testimony created a nexus between the attempt and his wife's death, and given that Appellant had self-inflicted superficial wounds on his wrists at the time of the murder.

"The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial." *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). "A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied." *State v. Wharton*, 381 S.C. 209, 213, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009). "When reviewing a jury charge for error, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole; the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial." *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 498, 787 S.E.2d 480, 482 (2016), *reh'g denied* (July 15, 2016).

The trial court instructed the jury on the offenses of murder, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter, as well as on the defense of accident. (R. p. 395, line 5 – p. 399, line 13). Immediately thereafter, the trial court instructed the jury that:

Evidence of a suicide attempt is probative of the defendant's consciousness of guilt, and you ladies and gentlemen of the jury can give this evidence of a suicide attempt whatever weight, if any, you think it deserves.

(R. p. 399, lines 14-17).

The State requested this instruction. (R. p. 358, lines 9-23). Appellant objected on the basis that it was "an impermissible charge on the facts," though opined that it was a correct statement of law. (R. p. 359, lines 2-7). The court ruled that the charge was "a reasonable statement and . . . a statement of the law." (R. p. 360, lines 18-24). Furthermore, the court reasoned that it would instruct the jury on both accident and suicide out of fundamental fairness, opining that the construction of the accident charge constituted a similar comment on the facts.

(R. p. 360, line 25 – p. 361, line 4). Appellant renewed his objection at the conclusion of the jury instructions. (R. p. 403, lines 1-3).

The admissibility of Applicant's suicide attempt is not at issue as Appellant contends throughout the majority of his brief, which states that this issue is presently pending before the South Carolina Supreme Court in *State v. Cartwright*, App. Case No. 2016-000005 (S.Ct. argued Mar. 22, 2017). (Br. of Appellant, pp. 8-10). *Cartwright* involves the admissibility of evidence of a suicide attempt, not the propriety of a jury instruction on that evidence. *State v. Cartwright, supra* (Br. of Pet., Issue I, filed Dec. 9, 2016). No such jury instruction was given in *Cartwright*. *See id.* The admissibility of Appellant's suicide attempt was never contested in the present case. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal."). To that end, the authorities Appellant cites which are reflective only of the admissibility of evidence of a suicide attempt are not persuasive to the disposition of the case at bar. (Br. of Appellant, pp. 8-10).

- a. **The trial court issued an appropriate jury instruction that identified the current law of our State, did not comment on the facts, and enlightened the jury on the permissible consideration related to the suicide attempt, which Appellant relied upon in support of his own defense.**

The propriety of the jury instruction related to the uncontested evidence of Appellant's suicide attempt constitutes the proper issue before this court. *See State v. Dunbar, supra*. The instruction in this case was indeed reflective of the status of the law of our State. *State v. Orozco*, 392 S.C. 212, 219, 708 S.E.2d 227, 230 (Ct. App. 2011), *petition for writ of certiorari withdrawn State v. Orozco*, App. Case No. 2011-192226 (Mot. to Dismiss granted Sept. 5, 2013). This Court has held "that evidence of a suicide attempt is probative of a defendant's consciousness of guilt and is generally admissible for whatever value the jury decides to give it."

*Id.* at 220, 708 S.E.2d at 231. “[T]he same principle that deems evidence of flight by one accused of a crime as probative of consciousness of guilt” served as the foundation for this Court’s holding, which went on to state that evidence of a suicide attempt is relevant when the accused has knowledge of the charges against him and when a nexus exists between the suicide attempt and those charges. *Id.* at 219–21, 708 S.E.2d at 230–32; *see* 29 Am.Jur.2d Evidence § 547 (noting a number of jurisdictions in agreement).

Accordingly, the trial court issued a proper jury instruction reflective of the correct and current law of our State when it instructed that “evidence of suicide attempt is probative of the defendant’s consciousness of guilt.” (R. p. 399, lines 14-17). The required nexus exists in this case. Direct and circumstantial evidence links Appellant’s admitted suicide attempt to the accusations which engendered the current convictions. The record indicates that Appellant was aware that his actions resulted in his wife’s death—he confessed to the killing on multiple occasions. (R. p. 25, lines 3-5; R. p. 84, lines 14-15; R. p. 158, lines 4-5; R. p. 162, lines 19-22; R. p. 270, lines 1-5; R. p. 280, line 5 – p. 281, line 1). The evidence further gives rise to the circumstantial inference that Appellant attempted suicide as a means of evading criminal responsibility for the act committed. Appellant’s testimony, along with that of the EMS responder and his treating physician, signaled that Appellant staged a suicide attempt by making it appear that he slit his wrists after the murder. The wounds were classified as abrasions requiring no medical treatment. (R. p. 137, line 22 – p. 138, line 9; R. p. 139, line 23 – p. 142, line 16; R. p. 299, lines 19-23; R. p. 416). He also admitted to taking a number of pills, including high blood pressure medication and an antidepressant, as an attempt to overdose. (R. p. 42, lines 1-3; R. p. 416). But Appellant, who regularly took high blood pressure medication, had stable vitals immediately after the incident, and only later received limited treatment at the emergency

room. (R. p. 42, lines 1-25; R. p. 139, line 23 – p. 142, line 16; R. p. 270, lines 1-3). The results of a urinalysis showed no other signs of an overdose. (R. p. 43, lines 1-11).

Alternatively, Appellant testified to the rationale that he “didn’t want to live without her,” (R. p. 297, lines 19-25), which permitted the jury to infer that Appellant’s suicide attempt resulted from despair caused by an accidental death or an otherwise unintended result. Appellant’s defense relied upon the evidence of a suicide attempt as a means of pleading that Elaine’s death was accidental.

In addition to a duty to instruct the jury on correct statements of law, a jury instruction should be designed to “enlighten the jury and aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. at 498, 787 S.E.2d at 482. An instruction regarding evidence of an attempted suicide and consciousness of guilt does serve to enlighten the jury and it does so in a permissible manner. The charge at issue is influential in a jury’s assignment of criminal intent to the potential verdicts before it. “It would be illogical to assume the jury would not consider the setting in which the charged crime occurred in coming to its conclusion whether a crime occurred at all.” *State v. Bergstrom*, 413 N.W.2d 206, 210 (Minn. Ct. App. 1987). This Minnesota court held, in a prosecution for destruction of property, that the trial court could have expanded its jury instruction “to allow the jury on the question of guilt or innocence, to consider whether the defendant was attempting suicide in deciding her intent.” *Id.* New Jersey has held that the jury indeed should be instructed on the permissive use evidence of a suicide attempt. *State v. Mann*, 132 N.J. 410, 424, 625 A.2d 1102, 1108-09 (N.J. 1993).<sup>1</sup> A Massachusetts court has upheld an

---

<sup>1</sup> “The jury should be instructed that it first must find that an actual suicide attempt had occurred. It should then consider whether that attempt was made to avoid the burdens of prosecution and punishment. The jury should also determine whether [it] demonstrated consciousness of guilt. The trial court should instruct the jury that if it credits any alternative

instruction that “if they found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant attempted to commit suicide, it could be considered as evidence of the defendant’s consciousness of guilt.” *Com. v. Sheriff*, 425 Mass. 186, 199, 680 N.E.2d 75, 83 (Mass. 1997). That court also noted that “a judge is not required to point out to a jury a potentially innocent explanation for the act alleged to imply consciousness of guilt.” *Id.* at 200, 690 N.E.2d at 84.<sup>2</sup>

Appellant’s jury was instructed on murder, manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter and the defense of accident, and therefore had to determine whether Appellant intended the result. “Intent is not ordinarily susceptible of direct proof, and must be established by circumstantial evidence.” *State v. Bergstrom, supra*. The facts and circumstances surrounding Appellant’s suicide attempt could provide circumstantial proof of criminal intent. Similarly, the circumstances surrounding the suicide attempt, and Appellant’s rendition of the facts surrounding the impetus for his wife’s death, could provide proof of the absence of criminal intent. Accordingly, it was proper to instruct the jury that they may assign such evidence whatever weight they found appropriate.

Of course, our jurisdiction employs a constitutional provision barring the trial judge from commenting on matters of fact. S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”). But the charge in this case is distinguishable from other jury instructions deemed improper commentary on the facts of a case. *See State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. at 499-500, 787 S.E.2d at 482-83 (holding that the instruction

---

explanation offered by the defendant, it may not infer consciousness of guilt from the evidence of a suicide attempt.” *Id.*

<sup>2</sup> The trial court also instructed the jury that “a defendant’s conduct following or around the time of a crime may be motivated by factors which are fully consistent with innocence,” and that they were “permitted, but [were] not required to find that by his conduct the defendant has displayed some consciousness of guilt.” *Id.* at n.16.

derived from S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 placed an inappropriate emphasis on the victim's testimony and created confusion when given in conjunction with the trial court's standard charge on witness credibility). In particular, this case is also distinguishable from *State v. Grant*, 275 S.C. 404, 408, 272 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1980), which declared a jury charge on "the law of flight" improper. The charge in *Grant* was far more instructive than the instruction in this case. Its language was mandatory. It read: "In this case the State has claimed flight. Attempts to run away have always been regarded as some evidence of guilty knowledge and intent." *Id.* at 406, 272 S.E.2d at 170.

Unlike *Grant*, the jury in this case was instructed merely that "evidence of a suicide attempt is probative of a defendant's consciousness of guilt." (R. p. 399, lines 14-15). The jury was not instructed that the State alone presented that evidence for a particular purpose, or that such an attempt has "always been regarded" as a portrayal of guilt. *State v. Grant* at 406, 272 S.E.2d at 170. Instead, the instruction in this case included ameliorating language alerting the jury that they may give the suicide evidence whatever weight, *if any*, they deemed it to deserve. (R. p. 399, lines 15-17). Moreover, in this case, the suicide attempt was relevant to both parties. Both the State and Appellant presented evidence of the attempt, each promoting that evidence in favor of their desired outcome. The State presented the suicide evidence because one could infer that Appellant staged a suicide attempt as a means of covering up the murder. (R. p. 382, lines 15-25; *see* R. p. 367, lines 1-4). In contrast, Appellant's defense heavily relied upon the same evidence as a means of excusing the homicide on the ground of accident. (*See* R. p. 367, lines 4-8). But, as pointed out by the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, the judge need not

instruct on potentially innocent explanations for the facts presented.<sup>3</sup> *Com. v. Sheriff*, 425 Mass. at 200, 680 N.E.2d at 84.

Given the totality of the facts presented at trial, the challenged instruction did not comment on the particular facts of the case, but rather equipped the jury with the necessary legal toolkit to interpret the facts in relation to the potential charges. The remainder of the jury instruction is reflective of the same type of instructional toolkit. The jury was instructed that they had to choose a verdict of murder, manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, or not guilty by way of accident. (R. p. 395, line 6 – p. 399, line 13). They were also instructed on any special assessment applicable to types of evidence presented throughout the trial. In addition to that of suicide, they were instructed on the allowable assessments related to expert testimony, inconsistent statements, statements made by the accused, and the requirement of finding criminal intent. (R. p. 392, line 5 – p. 395, line 5). The challenged instruction does not compete with any other instruction given, nor does it ask the jury to assign more weight to any particular evidence. It allows the jury to elect to apply whatever weight it deems fit. (R. p. 399, lines 14-17). In fact, the instruction did not comment on the facts of the case any more than the subsequent charge on possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime<sup>4</sup> or the preceding charge on accident.<sup>5</sup> After all, “[t]he law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” *State v. Hill, supra*.

---

<sup>3</sup> Rather, as was conducted in this case, the judge must instruct the jury as to the presumption of innocence, the burden of proof, and the elements of the crimes charged and defenses pled. (R. p. 385, line 18 – p. 402, line 21).

<sup>4</sup> “. . . A knife is an instrument or tool with a sharp cutting blade whether or not fastened to a handle which would be used to inflict a cut, slash, or wound. A knife is considered to be a weapon. . . .” (R. p. 399, line 17 – p. 400, line 9).

<sup>5</sup> “. . . An act may be excused on the ground of accident if it is shown that the act was unintentional, that the defendant was acting lawfully . . . .” (R. p. 399, lines 5-13).

- b. If found in error, the jury instruction is harmless because the totality of the evidence, including Appellant's numerous pre-trial admissions, indicates the presence of malice aforethought.**

Erroneous jury instructions are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014). In conducting this analysis, the inquiry “‘is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.’ Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)). Given the evidence in this case, there is no indication that the jury based their verdict on suicide portion of the charge for two reasons.

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